STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 9, 1995, the Duval County Grand Jury indicted appellant, MICHAEL SHELLITO, for premeditated first-degree murder in the death of Sean Hathorne on August 31, 1994. R 1-3.<sup>1</sup>

Appellant was tried by jury before Judge R. Hudson Olliff on July 17-21, 1995. The jury found him guilty as charged. R 308, T 1210.

The penalty phase was held August 21, 1994. Following deliberations, the jury returned with an advisory verdict recommending the death sentence by a vote of 11 to 1. R 359, T 1511.

---

<sup>1</sup>References to the seven-volume record on appeal (Volumes I-VII) are designated by "R" and the page number. References to the twenty-six volume pretrial and trial transcript (Volumes VIII-XXXIII) are designated by "T" and the page number.

On September 8, 1995, the court denied appellant's motions for a new trial and heard argument as to the sentence for this offense and several unrelated offenses. T 1524.

On October 20, 1995, the trial judge imposed the death sentence. T 1566. In the sentencing order, the judge found three aggravators: prior violent felony, pecuniary gain, and committed during a robbery. R 393-394. The judge found appellant's age was a mitigating factor of slight weight and his background and character "may" be a mitigating factor of slight weight. R 395-398.

Notice of appeal was timely filed November 20, 1995 R 407, 407a.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Sean Hathorne, 18, was fatally shot in the chest around 4:30 a.m. on Wednesday, August 31, 1994, as he walked home from his girlfriend's house. That evening, around midnight, police arrested appellant, 18, and others during a raid on Stephen Gill's Colonial Forest apartment. Appellant was indicted for the Hathorne murder on February 9, 1995. Appellant's defense was that Steve Gill, the uncharged co-participant, shot Hathorne.

#### Guilt Phase

State's Case-in-Chief

Kevin Keyes testified his .380 semiautomatic pistol, also known as a .9 millimeter short, was stolen between 10 p.m., Tuesday, August 30, 1994, and 7 a.m. the next morning. The pistol was in his pickup truck parked outside his home. T 381, 384-385. The words ".9 millimeter" were inscribed on the pistol. T 387. Keyes stated he believed the pistol was taken between 1 and 2 a.m. because a vehicle crashed into a neighbor's mailbox around that time. Keyes lived six miles from the Colonial Forest Apartments. T 388-392.

Amy Luke, age 14, testified she was living on Resa Terrace Road in August 1994. Sean Hathorne came by when he got off work around 1 a.m. and headed home on foot around 4 a.m. He lived a few blocks away. T 394-397, 401.

Ricky Bays testified he was in jail for armed robbery. He had been in jail since the September 1 raid on Steve Gill's apartment. T 415. He had a prior felony conviction. T 419. Bays and Mike Shellito had been friends for three years. Steve Gill was Bays's cousin. Bays had introduced Mike to Steve six months before the shooting. T 416-417. In August 1994, Ricky Bays, Steve Gill, Jason Gill (Steve's stepbrother), Judy Gill (Steve's mother), Julie Gill (Judy's 3-year-old daughter), and Theresa Ritzer (Jason's girlfriend) were all living in the same

apartment at the Colonial Forest Apartments. T 437. Mike lived a few blocks away and stayed there sometimes. Heather Raffa, Bays's girlfriend, and another girl, Peggy, also stayed there sometimes. T 418-419.

They were all at Steve's the night Hathorne was shot. When Bays and Mike arrived at 7 p.m., Steve **was** there. Steve's girlfriend, Sunshine Turner, arrived around 10 p.m. **Bays** drank a quart of beer around 11 p.m. Sunshine did not drink and did not appear intoxicated. T 420-421. **Bays**, Sunshine, and **Heather** walked to the nearby Majik Market **and were** back in 10 minutes. Steve was in his room when they left and when they returned. Mike left around midnight, give or take **a** half hour. He was gone about an hour. T 421-422, 444. No one else left while Mike was gone. Bays and Heather were in **Bays's** room; Steve and Sunshine were in Steve's room. T 423.

Bays said Mike returned with a black gun engraved with the words ".9 millimeter." T 424-425. He said Mike told him he had gotten the gun from a van that night. Bays **had** seen Mike drive up in a black van. T 452-453, 456-457. Bays identified State's Exhibit A as the gun Mike **had** that night. T 425. On **CROSS-**examination, Bays conceded he had told Detective **McHail** on September 1 the gun **was** chrome with a black handle. T 452.

Bays **said** Steve and Mike took Sunshine home around 4 a.m. Mike took the gun, tucked in his waist. They drove Judy Gill's white Ford pickup. T 426-427. They got back around 5:30 a.m. and **came** into Bays's room. Mike had the gun in his waist. Bays said Mike said he had shot someone after they dropped off Sunshine. He saw a guy walking **down** the street. He shook the guy down, but he did not have any money, so he shot him. The guy crawled up to a fence and died. The guy had some papers in his pocket that looked like legal papers. Mike said the guy looked like Bays, so Bays figured he was Puerto Rican. T 429-431. Mike did not say whether Steve was involved. Steve, who was present, said nothing but acted "real paranoid or like real scared" and was looking out the windows. T 432, 449. Bays said Heather and Peggy also heard Mike talking about the shooting. T 454.

Bays said he and Mike were at Steve's apartment later that night at 11 p.m. Mike had the **same** gun. Steve was not there. Bays was not present when Mike was arrested because he was being arrested himself. Bays was taken to the Police Memorial Building, where he gave a statement telling police what Mike had said about the shooting. Bays said he had not entered a plea on the armed robbery charge and had not been promised anything. T 433-434.

On cross-examination, Bays said Horace Cook and Jesse Furlow had been his cellmates. T 439-440. He read about the homicide in the newspaper while in jail. T 445. He kept information about his case under his mattress. T 440. Bays identified the statement he had given on September 1, and said he had been charged with the pending armed robbery when he gave the statement. When he gave the statement, he was concerned about the robbery charge and what might happen to him. T 450-451. On redirect, Bays said he had not read any details of the Hathorne shooting in the paper and had not seen any police reports about it before he gave his September 1 statement. T 455.

Over defense objection, Detective Hinson was permitted to testify to what Bays said in the interview. Hinson testified he interviewed Ricky Bays at the police station around 4 a.m. on September 1. Bays did not have access to any police reports at that time. T 622. Bays told Hinson appellant and Steve Gill had returned to Steve's apartment around 5:30 a.m. that morning. They had left around 4 a.m. to take Sunshine home in Steve Gill's mother's pickup truck. After they dropped off Sunshine, they saw someone walking down the road. Appellant got out and confronted the person to rob him. He was a Puerto Rican male. He did not have a wallet, just some papers. Appellant told Bays he shot him

after he did not have any money. He said he crawled up by a fence. T 623-624.

On cross-examination, Hinson said Bays was under arrest when he gave his statement. Theresa Ritzer and Jason Gill were at the police station also. T 630. Hinson was not sure if he knew Bays had given a written statement to Detective McHail earlier but said he probably was aware Bays had been interviewed already. T 633. Hinson interviewed Bays at 6:25 a.m. T 634.

Sunshine Turner testified she was dating Steve Gill when the shooting took place. She had known Mike two days. T 475-476. The night of the shooting, Ricky Bays and Heather Raffa picked her up and took her to Steve's apartment. She arrived around midnight. She did not drink or do drugs that night. She stayed in Steve's room most of the night. T 478-479. Mostly the guys were drinking. She saw seven to ten quarts of beer. Steve was "pretty intoxicated." T 511. Sunshine and Heather went to the Majic Market for 10 minutes. T 480. Neither Steve nor Ricky left the apartment. Mike left around 1 or 1:30 a.m. He was gone an hour. T 480-481. Steve drove her home around 4 a.m. in his mother's truck. Mike rode with them. T 482. Sunshine lived on Resa Terrace, a 15-minute drive from Steve's apartment. T 483. On the **way** home, Steve and Mike talked about needing to 'make

money" and "do some work." Sunshine told them to take her home first. A block from her house, Mike said he needed to talk to someone and got out. He seemed anxious. She told him "please don't do anything this close to my house." T 484-486. She did not see a gun. T 516. Steve drove her to the end of Resa Terrace. They talked for five minutes and he dropped her off and left. It was 4:20 a.m. T 487. Steve called her the next day. T 518. At Steve's house, police threatened to charge her with the murder if she did not cooperate. T 529. She stopped dating Steve a week later and had not spoken to him in 11 months. T 490.

Michael Green lived at 5386 107th Street and witnessed the shooting. T 460. Green testified he was awakened by arguing in front of his house around 4 a.m. He looked out the window and saw a white pickup truck in the road. A guy stood by the truck. He heard a "pop" and saw the guy spin around, run, and fall over by his gate. The guy **was** not crawling. Green could not tell where the gunshot came from. T 461-463. The truck looked just like Judy Gill's truck. T 470-471. The truck drove towards Catoma. Green called 911. T 463.

Police found Sean Hathorne 30 feet from the street, by Green's chain link fence. T 646-655. Some papers related to

Hathorne's job were in his front pants pocket, partially exposed. T 601, 604. No wallet was found. T 603. A shell casing was found in the grass, 5 1/2 feet from the street and 15 feet from the body. T 655, 678. If a vehicle were in front of the house, facing Catoma, the shell casing would be to the vehicle's left. T 679. The shell casing came from the pistol recovered from the shootout at Steve Gill's apartment on August 31. T 813.

The medical examiner testified the cause of death was a gunshot wound to the chest. T 557. The bullet entered the back of the arm pit on the right side and exited on the left side. T 547. The wound was consistent with being inflicted by a .380 caliber bullet. T 557. A bruise on the head was consistent with the head hitting the ground. T 548. The entry wound was clean, meaning the shooter was at least two feet away. T 555,

Lateria Copeland, age 16, testified he and three friends went to the Colonial Forest Apartments around midnight the night of the police raid. T 703. Mike was outside with a black and gray gun. Mike said he got the gun from a truck. T 708. It was the gun he had dreamed of. T 705. They all went inside. T 706, Mike said he had gone up to a guy and asked for money. The guy said he did not have any money, and Mike "told the dude he was out of gas" and shot him. He demonstrated how he held his arm

straight out and said he shot him in the heart. T 708, 711. As Copeland tried to leave around midnight, the police came into the apartment. T 709.

On cross-examination, Copeland admitted he was on community control for five years in a juvenile case. If he violated, he would get sent off. T 734, 744. He said he was friends with Hank Baker, whose brother had beat up Mike brother. T 734. He did not know whose apartment they were in that night. He had been forced to stay and smoke marijuana. They smoked a 30 sack in one blount, meaning 3 dimes, a lot of marijuana, but the marijuana did not affect him at all. T 737-739. They were all smoking marijuana in a back bedroom when Mike was talking about the shooting. Mike did not say the guy died. He never said who he was with or where and never described the guy he shot. The guy just dropped down, he was not running or crawling. T 743-744. Copeland was taken to the police station that night, and as soon as he told them about Mike, they let him go. T 740.

On redirect, Copeland said he did not know the person who beat up Mike's brother. T 745. When asked what Mike said about smoking, he said when they came in the front door, Mike told them they were going to smoke. T 748.

Theresa Ritzer, 18, testified she lived in Ohio with her

parents. She was staying at Steve Gill's apartment the last week of August 1994. She met Mike through Steve three days before the police raid. T 752-754. That night, she and Jason Gill were at the apartment when Ricky Bays and Mike arrived sometime after dark. T 757, 775. Judy Gill and her daughter came later, as did three or four other guys she did not know. T 755, 757. Steve Gill was not there. T 759. At some point, Mike borrowed Jason's car, and Mike and Ricky went to get more beer. When they got back, Ricky left. T 775-776.

Mike had a black gun. He said it was a .9 millimeter short. T 755. He said he and Steve Gill were driving down the road and saw someone walking down the street. Mike told Stephen to pull over. Mike got out and told the guy to give him all his money. The guy said he did not have any money but he would go home and get some. Mike said "you're out of gas" and shot him. He watched his light blue shirt turn dark blue. Mike talked about the shooting like he was proud. Mike, Theresa, and the other guys were in Steve Gill's bedroom when Mike told about the shooting. T 759-760.

When the other guys left the apartment, the police entered, identifying themselves as police. Mike jumped out the bedroom window. Theresa and Jason went into the hallway, where the

police ordered them to lie down. T 760-761. Theresa went back to her parents' home in Ohio several weeks later. T 762.

On cross-examination, Theresa said she was taken to the police station after the police raid. She gave Officer Carney a written statement in the early morning hours but did not tell him what she had just testified about. She told Carney she had not seen or heard anything suspicious. T 764. Later, around 9 a.m., she gave a sworn statement. Everything in that statement was true. She said Mike had the gun when he came to the apartment the second time that night. T 765.

On redirect, Theresa testified over objection that before she gave her statement to Officer Carney, she asked if Michael was dead. T 789. She wanted to know because he had held a gun to her head and said he would kill her if she talked and had killed before. She said she did not tell Carney what she knew because she was scared. T 791. A couple of hours later, she decided to tell because she was going back to Ohio. T 791.

Deputy Hurst testified he **was** stationed in the courtyard behind the Colonial Forest Apartments the evening of August 31, 1994. Around 12:15 a.m., he heard officers shouting, "police." Hurst saw Mike jump out a bedroom window and run. Hurst yelled to him to stop, then released his dog. Hurst ran around the

corner and found the dog biting Mike, and Mike pointing a gun at the dog's head, Mike pointed the gun at Hurst's torso, and Hurst shot him. When Mike stood up and tried to run, Hurst shot him a couple more times, and he went down. Hurst found out later another officer also was shooting. T 560-568, 573-578.

Officer Clark testified he was 30 to 40 yards away when he heard Hurst tell the suspect to stop. T 584-585. Clark moved around the corner of the building and saw the suspect on the ground entangled with the dog. T 586. A shot was fired and the dog got up and left. Hurst then fired, and the suspect turned in Clark's direction, and Clark fired. T 588. Clark did not see the suspect's gun until he went down. T 590. Clark fired at the suspect three times. T 594. Prior to this incident, Clark was familiar with Ricky Bays and Steve Gill. T 596. Police secured the gun, a semiautomatic, silver with dark handles. T 605. The magazine was empty but a live round was in the chamber. T 663.

#### Defense Case

John Bennett was living at 5389 107th Street the night Hathorne was shot and witnessed the shooting. Bennett testified he heard tires screeching around 4 in the morning, as if a vehicle had stopped suddenly. He looked out the window and saw "like a shadow of a silhouette" of a person moving around the

back of a truck. The person appeared to be coming from the driver's side of the truck. T 826-830.

On cross-examination, Bennet said the truck was about 110 feet away and heading towards Catoma Street, He was looking at the back tailgate and passenger side of the truck. T 830-831. The shadow was not the person who got shot. He **was** "fairly certain" the shadow came from the driver's side because of the person's conversation. T 833. When asked about his deposition statement that it **was** "possible" the shadow came from the passenger side, Bennett said he believed the boy was walking towards him, which meant he had to have come from the driver's side of the truck. T 834-835. Bennett was not wearing his glasses but did not need them to see a shape. T 836.

Theresa Ritzer said she smoked some marijuana the night of the police raid but not enough to feel anything. They all went in the bedroom when Mike told them they were going to smoke. She was not in the apartment most of the evening the night before the raid. T 838-842.

Officer Hinson testified he interviewed Stephen Gill the morning of September 2. Gill had given Detective McHail a written statement the night before. T 845. When asked if he had information that led him to believe Gill had lied in that

statement, Hinson said he was "concerned" about Gill and "that's why we advised him of his rights." T 846. On cross-examination, Hinson said he was concerned about Gill because he felt Gill had lied to McHail about whether he was present when Hathorne was shot. T 855, 857.

Jabreel Street testified he was serving a 90-day sentence for possession. He had seven or eight bad check charges and five felonies (three cocaine charges, one possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, and one felony bad check charge). T 863.

Jabreel said he, Ricky Bays, Horace Cook, and Jesse Furlow were in the same cell block. T 863-864, Ricky Bays made an offer to Jabreel about "jumping" appellant's case. "Jumping" a case meant trading information about a case for a more lenient sentence. Bays showed Jabreel papers and photocopies about appellant's case. One looked like a police report. Bays got the papers from his mother. She had an inside connection to the sheriff's office. Horace Cook gave Jabreel the details about the case, including the gun used, the victim, where the body was lying, the neighborhood, the time of night. Jabreel did not "jump" on the case because his own case was so petty. Bays offered the information in exchange for cigarettes. 866-868.

On cross-examination, Jabreel said Horace Cook and Jesse

Furlow had jumped him in jail. It lasted about a minute. When they took Jabreel out of the cell, Ricky Bays plundered his mattress. 872-873. The details he recalled about appellant's case were that appellant and friends were in a van when the victim and others rode up on bicycles. Appellant and his friends jumped out and robbed the victim. A fight ensued. Michael shot the victim in the head. The gun he used shot two kinds of bullets, .380 and .9 millimeter. 876-877.

Heather Raffa testified she was not drinking at Stephen Gill's apartment the evening of August 30, 1994. T 907. She did not see a gun that night. When asked if she had seen a gun at the apartment before that night, she said yes. T 907. She did not hear anyone talking about what happened while Steve and Michael took Sunshine home. T 908. On cross-examination, she said the gun she saw in the apartment before that night **was** a gun Michael had.<sup>2</sup> T 914.

Migdalia Shellito,<sup>3</sup> appellant's mother, said the family was

---

<sup>2</sup>Defense counsel made the following objection to this testimony: "Judge, I think he needs to lay a predicate to see if I don't want him to impeach her improperly. She may very well indicate that, I don't know if that's improper impeachment, she hasn't contradicted anything she said in the deposition." The objection was overruled. T 909-910.

<sup>3</sup>Mrs. Shellito was permitted to testify after Steven Gill, through counsel, exercised his Fifth Amendment privilege not to testify. T 952.

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