IN	THE	SUPREME	COURT	OF	FLORIDA	\mathbf{F}	Ι	LE		D
								Sid	J. WHIT	Έ	
MICHAEL SHELLITO,						; .			18 199		
						C	LERK,	, SUP	MAME C	× OUF	۲T
Appellant,							and the second sec	the second s	puty Glerk		-
v.				CAS	SE N	10. 86,93	31				

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS PL-01 THE CAPITAL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

In this case, any invocation of the prosecutorial mantle of authority is far less clear than in Brooks, Tucker, and Johnson. The more apparent purpose of the prosecutor's comments was simply to explain the concept of individualized sentencing -- as opposed to mandatory sentencing -- and to lead into a discussion of the evidence and the concept of aggravation and mitigation and the weighing process. See Donnellv v. De Christoforo, 416 U.S. 637, 647, 94 S.Ct. 1868, 40 L.Ed.2d 431 (1974) ("a court should not lightly infer that a prosecutor intends an ambiguous remark to have its most damaging meaning or that a jury, sitting through lengthy exhortation, will draw that meaning form the plethora of less damaging interpretations"). Shellito's trial counsel obviously did not infer the "most damaging meaning" from the remarks at issue here, because he interposed no objection to them. See Williams v. Kemp, 846 F.2d 1276, 1288 (11th Cir. 1988) (fact that no objection was made at trial is relevant indication that argument was not fundamentally unfair). In fact, defense counsel followed up on the remarks at issue here when he, like the prosecutor, pointed out that a death sentence was not appropriate in every case, and

jurors who had felt otherwise had been excused (TR 1470, 1446).

Significantly, in the very cases Shellito now relies upon (Brooks and Tucker), and, as well, in Johnson, supra, the Eleventh Circuit found no fundamental unfairness. Here, as in each of these cases, the prosecutor "laid out before the jury" (Brooks, supra at 1414) reasons for imposing a death sentence, based on facts in evidence and the application of law to those facts. Moreover, defense counsel and the trial court, in argument and charge respectively, made it "unmistakably clear" (ibid.) to the jury where the responsibility lay for rendering an advisory verdict. The jury was not misled by the remarks at issue here, and there was no fundamental error.

Absent fundamental error, this claim is not preserved for appeal.

C. <u>Improper doubling argument</u>.

Here, once again, Shellito is complaining about a comment to which no objection was made at trial. The State acknowledges that "it is improper to double the consideration of the aggravating circumstances of robbery and pecuniary gain when both aggravating circumstances referred 'to the same aspect of the defendant's crime.'" <u>Robertson v. State</u>, 611 So.2d 1228, 1233 (Fla. 1993).

However, these two aggravators were not "doubled" in this case -they were consolidated. Jackson v. State, 498 So.2d 406, 411 (Fla. 1986) ("the consolidation of these two aggravating factors does not render the sentence invalid, in that our sentencing statute requires a weighing rather than a mere tabulation of factors in aggravation and mitigation."). The prosecutor never argued that these two factors should be given double weight, and the trial court's charge did not authorize the jury to give double consideration to the two aggravators. Instead, the prosecutor acknowledged in his argument to the jury that the robbery and pecuniary gain aggravators merged into one aggravator (TR 1452), and the trial court informed the jury: "If you find that the killing of the victim was done for financial gain and was done during a robbery or attempted robbery, then you shall consider that as only one aggravating circumstance rather than two. Those circumstances are considered to be merged into one" (TR 1506). Nor did the trial court give the two factors double weight in its sentencing order, considering them instead as "one aggravating circumstance" (R 394).

Shellito now argues that the prohibition against doubling was violated when the prosecutor argued that the merged aggravator was a "weighty" one (TR 1453). Of course, the prosecutor also argued

that the prior violent felony aggravator was "weighty" aggravating circumstance (TR 1455). Shellito's trial attorney interposed no objection to either of the prosecutor's weight arguments. Like the prosecutor, Shellito's trial counsel reminded the jury that if it found that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain and also during a robbery, the jury would "consider that as only one aggravating circumstance rather than two" (TR 1472). Furthermore, Shellito's trial counsel also addressed the question of weight, arguing that both the merged robbery/pecuniary gain aggravator and the prior violent felony aggravator should be given "little weight" (TR 1473).

Even if the prosecutor had argued both that both the robbery pecuniary gain aggravators and the could be considered independently, there would be no reversible error absent objection. Deaton v. State, 480 So.2d 1279, 1282 (Fla. 1985) (prosecutor argued both robbery and pecuniary gain aggravators, but, because trial judge properly recognized that these findings encompassed only one aggravating factor, the prosecutor's argument did not prejudice defendant). See also Suarez v. State, 481 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1985) (absent a request for a limiting instruction, it was not reversible error when the jury was instructed on both robbery and pecuniary gain aggravators so long as the trial court did not

give the aggravating factors double weight in its sentencing order).

Here, in contrast to <u>Deaton</u>, the prosecutor acknowledged in his argument that the circumstances of robbery and pecuniary gain was only "one aggravating circumstance," and, in contrast to <u>Suarez</u>, the trial court gave the limiting instruction approved in <u>Castro v. State</u>, 597 So.2d 259 (Fla. 1992).

Even if the argument at issue here was objectionable for any reason, there was no impropriety so egregious as to amount to fundamental error. Therefore, this claim is not preserved for appeal.

D. Attacks on the Mitigating Evidence.

In another attack on the prosecutor's argument raised for the first time on appeal, Shellito contends the prosecutor improperly denigrated mitigating evidence. This claim is barred for failure to object below. <u>Carter v. State</u>, 560 So.2d 1166, 1168 (Fla. 1990) (claim that prosecutor engaged in improper argument impugning defense counsel and vouching for truthfulness of state's chief witness, barred for failure to object below).

Moreover, the prosecutor committed no impropriety here. It is true that a prosecutor should not attempt to discredit law applicable to a case, or to disparage a defense in general. <u>Garron</u>

v. State, 528 So.2d 353, 357 (Fla. 1988) (improper to discredit the insanity defense as a legal defense to a charge of murder, i.e., to place the issue of validity of insanity defense before the jury in the form of "repeated criticism of the defense in general"); Drake v. Kemp, 762 F.2d 1449 (11th Cir. 1985) (improper to misrepresent the law by discrediting mercy as a legally acceptable sentencing rationale). But that does not mean that a prosecutor cannot dispute the defendant's theory of the case. <u>Valle v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, 581 So.2d at 47 (prosecutor "may properly argue that the defense has failed to establish a mitigating factor and may also argue that the jury should not be swayed by sympathy"). So long as the prosecutor's argument is based on the evidence, any difference of opinion about what the evidence shows is a matter for counter argument, not objection. Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982) ("Wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. [Cits.] Logical inferences may be drawn, and counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate arguments.").

With regard to matters complained of here, the prosecutor argued:

You will probably hear some argument and you've heard some evidence regarding defendant's low intelligence, his background and why this is mitigation. I will not spend a great deal of time on the record, you will have some of them to take back with you. The

defendant has had some difficulties, I'm not going to deny that. I'm not sure exactly to what extent they will go, you've heard some conflict in the evidence that you will have to decide on but you would not expect a Christian background of a murderer. The question is, though, do these difficulties, does this problem that has surfaced at some point in his life when you look at each of these occurrences, does it outweigh the obvious weighty aggravators in this case because that is your duty, that is what you must do. . . .

We know the records say he has the average ability to reason, to organize and perceive. He knew what he was doing. And anything else that you hear about is an excuse. . .

The only evidence you got was largely from the mother, Mrs. Shellito. You recall her testimony in the guilt phase. You heard some evidence of what doctors said and you'll hear or have the records but no doctors testified. Doctors often have fancy names for insignificant problems. At the very least fancy names for problems that are not sufficient to warrant mercy, not sufficient to excuse murder and that is what you have to keep in mind.

The defendant was deprived, therefore he is depraved. That is an excuse. Whatever deprivation there was his sister and brother have turned out fine. They have gone on in their lives not to be criminals, not to have prior violent crimes, not to commit murders and not to do it out of greed. One bad apple in a family is not a mitigation, ladies and gentlemen. . . .

Even if there is some nonstatutory mitigation under that catch all, it does not compare to the weight and the heavy burden of those aggravating circumstances.

(TR 1464-67).

This argument contains neither misstatement of law nor fact. As for the reference to "fancy names," Defendant's exhibit 2

includes a diagnosis of Organic Mental Disorder, Conduct Disorder, Developmental Language Disorder and Developmental Reading Disorder. Reasonable people might well consider these to be "fancy names," and whether or not the problems they describe are "insignificant" or at least insufficient to outweigh the aggravating circumstances was a matter properly within the "wide latitude" allowed in closing argument. As will be further discussed in argument as to Issue VIII, no mental health expert witness testified at the penalty phase (as the prosecutor correctly noted in his argument) and the paper exhibits admitted into evidence fail to establish significant mental illness or deficiency. Furthermore, it was proper to note that Shellito came from the same family background as his brother and sister, neither of whom had turned to violent crime. Elledge v. Dugger, 823 F.2d 1439, 1447 (11th Cir. 1987) (relevant that defendant's brother and sister had emerged as "normal citizens" even though they had experienced same disadvantaged background as defendant).

The prosecutor certainly did attempt to persuade the jury that the mitigating circumstances were not strong, but he did not invite the jury to "ignore valid mitigating circumstances established by competent, uncontroverted evidence," as Shellito contends. Initial Brief of Appellant at 50. Nor did the prosecutor argue that the

law would not allow the consideration of mitigation. <u>Valle v.</u> <u>State, supra, 581 So.2d at 47</u> (distinguishing permissible argument that jury "should not be swayed by sympathy" from argument that "the law would not allow the jury to consider sympathy"). On the contrary, the prosecutor invited the jury to consider, not ignore, the evidence, and acknowledged that it was the jury's "duty" to consider and weigh mitigating evidence.

Nothing here rises to the level of fundamental error, and this claim is procedurally barred.

E. <u>Show-the-Defendant-the-Same-Mercy-he-Showed-the-Victim</u> <u>Argument</u>.

In his final attack on the prosecutor's closing argument, Shellito complains about the show-the-defendant-the-same-mercy-heshowed-the-victim argument. Like his other complaints about the prosecutor's argument, this complaint has not been preserved for appeal by timely objection; his objection to this argument is raised for the first time on appeal.

The State acknowledges that in <u>Rhodes v. State</u>, 547 So.2d 1201, 1206 (Fla. 1989), this Court held that such argument is objectionable. However, unlike Shellito's trial counsel, Rhodes' trial counsel had objected to the comment at trial and had moved for a mistrial, thus preserving the issue for appeal. Even then,

this Court reversed only because the prosecutor's closing argument in <u>Rhodes</u> was "riddled with improper comments." <u>Ibid</u>. By contrast, in <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 604 So.2d 1107, 1109 (Fla. 1992), this Court found a show-the-defendant-no-mercy argument harmless, even though it occurred at the guilt phase of the trial -- a stage in the proceedings at which mercy was irrelevant.¹³

Although the comment at issue here was objectionable, it does not amount to fundamental error, and is therefore not preserved for appeal.

F. <u>Harmless error</u>.

Should this Court determine that any complaints about the prosecutor's closing argument are preserved for appeal, the State would contend that any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The State does not agree with Shellito's contention that the comment on remorse, standing alone, requires reversal. For reasons enunciated previously, the reference to remorse was not improper in this case. Even if this Court disagrees, however, <u>Hill v. State</u>, 549 So.2d 179, 183-84 (Fla. 1989), which Shellito relies upon, is

¹³According to the Merriam Webster Dictionary, the definition of mercy includes: "1: compassion shown to an offender; also: imprisonment rather than death for first degree murder." Such considerations are irrelevant at the guilt phase of the trial.



distinguishable. First of all, in <u>Hill</u> this Court had already determined that the case was going to have to be remanded for resentencing anyway when it addressed the remorse comment. Furthermore, the prosecutor in <u>Hill</u> had buttressed his argument by invoking the authority of this Court and, because there was an objection, which was overruled, the prosecutor in <u>Hill</u> elicited the seeming approval by the trial court of the argument. <u>Ibid</u>. In this case, we have only the single reference to remorse, unadorned by attribution of approval by this Court, not objected to by the defense and not commented on by the trial court.

Prosecutorial argument at the penalty phase "must be egregious indeed" to warrant reversal. <u>Bertolotti v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 130, 133 (Fla. 1985). <u>Accord</u>, <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 609 So.2d 493, 501 (Fla. 1992) (only "truly egregious" prosecutorial misconduct warrants reversal of death sentence). Even if some portion of the prosecutor's argument was objectionable, and even if this Court considers any matter raised here as preserved for appeal despite the lack of any objection below, "the prosecutor's comments are not so outrageous as to taint the jury's . . . recommendation of death." <u>Crump v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 963, 971-72 (Fla. 1993) (prosecutor compared defense to "octopus" clouding the water in order to "slither away" and asked jury to return death sentence in

order to send a message to the community). No reversible error has been shown.

<u>ISSUE V</u>

BECAUSE THERE WAS EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE PECUNIARY GAIN AGGRAVATOR, THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY THEREON; FURTHERMORE, THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE TRIAL JUDGE'S FINDING OF THE PECUNIARY GAIN AGGRAVATOR; BUT IN ANY EVENT, BECAUSE THE PECUNIARY GAIN AGGRAVATOR MERGED INTO THE ROBBERY AGGRAVATOR, ANY ERROR IS HARMLESS

Shellito's trial counsel objected to instructing the jury as to the pecuniary gain aggravator on the ground that there was 'no evidence of financial gain" (TR 1274). Trial counsel acknowledged that Shellito had possibly taken some 'court papers" from the victim, but argued that such papers did not amount to anything of value. The trial court overruled the objection and instructed the jury both as to pecuniary gain and robbery. As noted previously, the trial court instructed the jury that if it should find that the killing was committed for financial gain and that it was committed during a robbery or attempted robbery, the jury would "consider that as only one aggravating circumstance rather than two" (TR 1506).

Shellito contends on appeal that the evidence was insufficient to support the pecuniary gain aggravator because the evidence shows that financial gain was not the motive for the murder. Implicitly

acknowledging that pecuniary gain was the motive for the criminal episode, he nevertheless contends that the murder was an afterthought. Therefore, he contends, it was error to instruct the jury on the pecuniary gain aggravator and error for the court to find that aggravator. The State does not agree, but would contend that even if there is any error here, it is harmless because the pecuniary gain aggravator merges into the robbery aggravator.

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